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Appeal from the United States District Court for the Mddle
?Lg;gict of Alabama. (No. cr-95-191-N), W Harold Al britton, I11,

Before BIRCH, Circuit Judge, RONEY, Senior GCrcuit Judge, and
HANCOCK', Senior District Judge.

PER CURI AM

In this appeal, we determ ne whet her possession of a firearm
by a convicted felon solely for delivery as collateral for a | oan
can be the basis for a dowward departure from the applicable
Sentencing Cuidelines range for violating 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1).
The district court concluded that it did not have the discretion to
depart downward. We affirm

| . BACKGROUND

In the sumrer of 1994, defendant-appellant, Ephriam Bri stow,
who lived with his parents in their honme, was in debt. He needed
noney to pay overdue bills and his child support obligations. On
July 22, 1994, Bristow took his father's unloaded and lawfully
owned Sm th and Wesson, Model 13-2, .357 Magnumrevol ver and pawned
it at Qui k Pawn Shop in Montgonery, Al abama. On August 3, 1994, in
an attenpt to retrieve the handgun that he had pawned, Bristow

conpleted a gun registration formand represented that he was not

"Honor abl e Janes H. Hancock, Senior U S. District Judge for
the Northern District of Al abama, sitting by designation.



prohi bited from possessing a firearmunder federal |aw because he
had not been convicted of a felony. Bristow was not permtted to
redeem the revol ver because, during the waiting period, it was
di scovered that he had pled guilty in Mntgonery County Circuit
Court to possession of a controlled substance in 1992, for which he
was sentenced to three years of inprisonment.' On August 29, 1995,
Bristow was indicted in a twd-count indictnent. Count | of the
i ndictment charged him wth being a felon in possession of a
firearmin violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1). Count Il charged
him with mking a false statement in connection wth the
acquisition of a firearmin violation of 18 U S.C 8§ 922(a)(6).
Bristow pled guilty to Count I; Count Il was dismssed by the
gover nment .

At his sentencing hearing on February 8, 1996, Bristow
proffered and the district court accepted the followi ng facts: (1)
Bri stow possessed only one firearm a handgun; (2) the firearm
possessed by Bristowwas owned |lawfully by his father; (3) Bristow
di d not possess any ammunition; (4) Bristow possessed the firearm
for the mnimal tine that it took for himto carry the weapon from
his famly honme to a nei ghborhood pawn shop; (5) when Bristow
pawned the firearm he gave correct information concerning his
identity, his address, and his tel ephone nunber; (6) Bristow did
not use or intend to use the firearmfor any unl awful purpose; (7)
Bristow did not possess the weapon for self-defense or

self-protection; and (8) Bristow had never been convicted of an

This sentence was suspended, and Bristow was rel eased on
probation for two years.



of fense involving firearns. Based on these facts purportedly
conprising innocent possession, Bristow requested a downward
departure under U. S.S.G § 5K2.0, p.s.? He argued that the use of
a firearm as collateral for a loan was not considered by the
Sent enci ng Conmi ssion in fornul ati ng the Sentenci ng Gui del i nes and
that the facts of this case warranted a departure.

Based on U.S.S. G 88 2K2.1 and 5K2.0, p.s., the district judge
expl ai ned his reasons for concluding that he was precluded from
according Bristow a dowmward departure:

| have given | ong and serious thought to this and that is
the reason | wanted to take a recess so | could think about
it, look at it, consider it. | have listened to the argunent
of counsel . Havi ng done so, | find that I am not able to
reduce this and depart bel ow t he Gui del i nes.

| find that, first, | would have to say that there exists

mtigating circunstances of the kind and to the degree not
adequately taken into consideration by the Sentencing

Conmmi ssion in fornulating the Guidelines. | don't think that
is the case. | think the Sentencing Conm ssion took into
consideration the idea of innocent possession. | think that

t hey addressed the issue of innocent possession of a firearm
in adopting the provision in 2K2.1 that provides for a
downward departure in the event that the person possesses a
firearm solely for lawful sporting purposes or collection
And at one time recreation.

’I'n relevant part, U S.S.G § 5K2.0, p.s., provides:

Under 18 U.S.C. 8 3553(b) the sentencing court may

i npose a sentence outside the range established by the
applicable guideline, if the court finds "that there
exi sts an aggravating or mtigating circunstance of a
kind, or to a degree, not adequately taken into

consi deration by the Sentencing Conm ssion in

formul ating the guidelines that should result in a
sentence different fromthat described.”

U S S.G 8§ 5K2.0, p.s. (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 3553(b)); see
US.SG Ch 1, Pt.A (n. 4(b)) (describing how the
encing court should conduct the inquiry under 18 U. S C
5



Therefore, | find that the argunent nade by the defense,

while certainly a good argunent, is not an argunent that
allows me to depart fromthe Guidelines under the rul es that
we have.

| can al so understand why t he Sent enci ng Comm ssi on woul d
do that. Because to allow the Court to take into
consideration the nature of an innocent use would certainly
make it a fact issue in many, many cases where Congress has
chosen sinmply to nmake it a federal crimnal offense for a
convicted felon to possess a firearm

So, as nmuch as ... one may feel synpathetic toward this
def endant under the circunstances, | do not believe that |
have the discretion to depart fromthe Guidelines. Because
believe that the nature of the use that exists inthis caseis
within the type of things that were considered by the
Sentenci ng Comm ssion in formul ati ng the CGuidelines.

For purposes of appeal, | would nmake it clear that | am
not exercising nmy discretion not to depart downward with the
ideathat | couldif | wanted to. | amnot departing downward

because | do not feel that | have the discretion to.

Having said that, | have given this nmuch consideration
and | think I amcorrect in this; that it is not the type
thing that this Court has authority to depart downward for

| will, however, take the argunments nmade by counsel into
consideration in setting the sentence and will sentence this
def endant to the m ni numsentence provided in the Guidelines.

Therefore, | overrule the objection filed by the defense
and al so deny the request for a downward departure.

R3- 28- 30.

Al though he did not depart downward, the district judge
sentenced Bristow to the m ni num sentence of twelve nonths and a
day of inprisonnment under U.S.S.G § 2K2.1.°® On appeal, Bristow
argues that the district court erred in concluding that it had no

authority to depart downward based on the factors involved with his

*The applicabl e Sentencing Guidelines range was twelve to
ei ghteen nont hs based on Bristow s base offense | evel of 12,
reduced two | evels for acceptance of responsibility, and his
crimnal history category of 1|1



possessing the firearm for the sole purpose of wusing it for
col | ateral
1. DI SCUSSI ON

We review departure deci sions by district courts for abuse of
di scretion. Koon v. United States, --- U S ----, ----, 116 S. C
2035, 2046, 135 L.Ed.2d 392 (1996); United States v. Taylor, 88
F.3d 938, 945 (11th Cr.1996). 1In Koon, the Supreme Court
est abl i shed the anal ysis for determ ning whether to depart froman
appl i cabl e Gui del i nes sent ence:

"1) What features of this case, potentially, take it outside

the Guidelines' "heartland and make of it a special, or

unusual , case?

2) Has the Conm ssion forbidden departures based on those
features?

3) If not, has the Conm ssion encouraged departures based on
t hose features?

4) 1f not, has the Comm ssion di scouraged departures based on
t hose features?”

Koon, --- U S. at ----, 116 S.C. at 2045 (quoting United States v.
Rivera, 994 F.2d 942, 949 (1st Cir.1993))."*

‘W realize that Koon was deci ded on June 13, 1996, and that
Bri stow was sentenced on February 8, 1996. "The sentencing court
nmust enploy the guidelines in effect at the tine the sentencing
hearing is held.” United States v. Camacho, 40 F.3d 349, 354
(11th G r.1994), cert. denied, --- US ----, 115 S.C. 1810, 131
L. Ed. 2d 735 (1995). The United States Sentencing Conm ssion
Gui del i nes Manual, effective Novenmber 1, 1995, is the operative
version for Bristow s sentencing and the one that we use. The
di spositive policy statenent in this appeal, U S . S.G § 5K2.12,
p.s., becanme effective on Novenber 1, 1987. 1d.; see WIllians
v. United States, 503 U.S. 193, 200-01, 112 s.C. 1112, 1119, 117
L. Ed. 2d 341 (1992) (holding that a Sentencing Cuidelines policy
statenment is an authoritative interpretive guide to the meaning
of an applicable guideline). W additionally note that the sane
version of the United States Sentencing Comm ssion CGuidelines
Manual was used by the Supreme Court in Koon and that the
four-part analysis for departure decisions that the Court adopts
therein is fromR vera, a First Crcuit case decided on June 4,



Al t hough the facts presented by Bristow at his sentencing to
show that his alleged innocent possession of a handgun as a
convicted felon may constitute superficial argunents for
classifying his case as special or wunusual wth respect to
heart| and cases, clearly the underlying, notivating reason that he
possessed the firearmwas for an econom c purpose to assist himin

paying his financial obligations.”® Thus, his argunents for

1993. Koon, --- U S at ----, 116 S.C. at 2045. Therefore,
Koon and its analysis for departure decisions is clarifying
commentary on the Sentencing Guidelines existent at the tinme of
Bristow s sentencing. See Camacho, 40 F.3d at 354 ("Carifying
amendnents are anmendnents to the commentary of the sentencing
gui delines, and are considered by this court in interpreting the
gui del i nes, even when the defendant was sentenced before the
effective date of the anendnents.").

*Confronting the argument that possession of a revolver by a
convicted felon as collateral for a |loan constituted aberrant
behavi or justifying a dowmward departure, the Fifth Grcuit found
this contention to be unavailing:

Even if [the defendant-appellant] possessed the gun
only as collateral, this suggests a consci ous and
del i berate act and not an aberrant or exceptional one.

The Sent enci ng Conm ssion has expl ai ned t hat
departures are appropriate, "[w hen a court finds an
atypi cal case, one to which a particular guideline
linguistically applies but where conduct significantly
differs fromthe norm..." US S G Ch. 1, Pt.
A(4)(b), intro. comrent. |[The defendant-appellant's]
possession of the firearmis not the type of
exceptional circunmstance warranting departure.

United States v. Burleson, 22 F.3d 93, 94 (5th Cr.) (per
curiam, cert. denied, --- US ----, 115 S . C. 283, 130

L. Ed. 2d 199 (1994). Under a forner version of the
Sentencing CGuidelines, the Sixth Crcuit concluded that
possession of a firearmby a convicted felon as coll ateral
for paynment owed himdid not qualify for departure as
"innocent possession” under U S.S.G 8§ 2K2.1(b)(2), which

t hen excepted only sport or recreation possession, evidenced
by the imting nodifier "solely.” United States v. WI son,
878 F.2d 921, 924-95 (6th Cr.1989); accord United States
v. Wckoff, 918 F.2d 925, 928 (11th G r.1990) (per curiam
Al'l of these cases, however, are pre-Koon anal yses.



downward departure fail under the second consideration of the Koon
anal ysis because "[t]he Conm ssion considered the relevance of
economc hardship and determned that personal financi al
difficulties and econom c pressures upon a trade or busi ness do not

warrant a decrease in sentence." U S.S.G § 5K2.12, p.s® see 18

We al so distinguish this case fromthe cases in our
circuit involving violation of the National Firearns Act, 26
U S C 8§ 5861(d), for possession of unregistered, sawed-off
shot guns, an offense separate from possession of any firearm
by a convicted felon in violation of 18 U S.C. 8 922(g) (1),
inplicated in this case. See United States v. Godfrey, 22
F.3d 1048 (11th G r.1994); United States v. Hadaway, 998

F.2d 917 (11th Cr.1993). |In the forner cases, the object
of the possession, the unregi stered, sawed-off shotgun,
causes the possession to be unlawful. In this case, the

classification of the possessor as a convicted felon causes
t he possession to be unl awful .

Section 922(g) targets a specific class of

i ndi vi dual s—onvicted felons. It provides that they
shall not possess any firearm regardless of the status
of the firearm

Congress pronmulgated 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) on the
prem se that convicted felons have a greater propensity

to commt crinmes using firearnms. It therefore
categorically sought to renove firearnms fromtheir
hands.

United States v. Mobl ey, 956 F.2d 450, 454 (3d G r.1992);
see also United States v. Elder, 16 F.3d 733, 738 (7th
Cir.1994) ("We have found no case that has allowed a
defendant ... to claimas a defense that he, as a convicted
felon, took possession of an illegal weapon for the innocent
purpose of turning it over to the proper authorities.").
Significantly, Bristow has never contended that he did not
violate 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1l) in possessing a firearmas a
convicted felon. Furthernore, he purposely |ied when he
represented on the registration formthat he had not been
convicted of a crine that would preclude himfrom obtaining
a firearm

®The Supreme Court has expl ained the rel ati on between
gui del i nes and policy statenents:

Construing the plain | anguage of the Guidelines Mnual



U S C 8§ 3553(a)(5) (requiring the district court when determ ning
a particular sentence to consider "any pertinent policy statenent
i ssued by the Sentencing Commission ... that is in effect on the
date the defendant is sentenced" (enphasis added)). "I'f the
special factor is a forbidden factor, the sentencing court cannot
use it as a basis for departure.” Koon, --- US at ----, 116
S.C. at 2045 Taylor, 88 F.3d at 945. The district judge
correctly determned that he was wthout discretion to grant
Bri st ow a downwar d departure, although he did not base his decision
on section 5K2.12, p.s., where the Sentencing Conmm ssion
specifically states that "economc hardship”" and "personal

financial difficulties" do not warrant a downward departure. !

.., we conclude that it is an incorrect application of
the Guidelines for a district court to depart fromthe
appl i cabl e sentencing range based on a factor that the
Comm ssion has already fully considered in establishing
t he guideline range or, as in this case, on a factor
that the Comm ssion has expressly rejected as an
appropriate ground for departure.

[ T]o say that guidelines are distinct from policy
statenents is not to say that their neaning is
unaffected by policy statenments. Were, as here, a
policy statenment prohibits a district court fromtaking
a specified action, the statenent is an authoritative
guide to the neaning of the applicable Guideline. An
error in interpreting such a policy statenent could
lead to an incorrect determ nation that a departure was
appropri ate.

WIllianms, 503 U.S. at 200-01, 112 S.C. at 1119 (enphasis
added) .

‘Al t hough Bristow and the governnent presented arguments on
the i ssue of whether any innocent possession of a firearmby a
convicted felon, other than for collection or sporting purposes,
can ever provide the basis for a downward departure, the district
court did not reach that issue.



US S.G 8§ 5K2.12, p.s. Wen a convicted felon, who is in debt
wi th overdue bills and child support obligations, uses arelative's
firearm as collateral for a loan, that firearm possession is
related directly to "personal financial difficulties" and clearly
is based on the type of "econom c" notivation addressed in section
5K2.12, p.s. Id. Therefore, departure was precluded under the
Sent enci ng CGui delines and the Koon anal ysi s.
I 11. CONCLUSI ON

On appeal, Bristow argues that the district judge shoul d have
accorded hima downward departure in his sentence for possessing a
firearm as a convicted felon because he contends that his
possessi on was i nnocent, since he pawned the revol ver as col |l ateral
so that he could pay his debts. As we have expl ained, the district
judge | acked authority to depart downward because the Sentencing
GQui delines specifically forbid a downward departure for econom c

reasons. Accordingly, Bristow s sentence is AFFI RVED



